
Jenny Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Fax : Bideford (01237) 479164

Date: 21 June 2019

TO:  THE CHAIR AND COUNCILLORS OF THE TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

FULL COUNCIL MEETING

TOWN HALL - BRIDGE STREET, BIDEFORD, EX39 2HS 

 Monday 1 July 2019 at 6.30 pm

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the
aforementioned date and time

Head of Paid Service

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting.

P R A Y E R S 
For those who wish to participate - Prayers will be held at 6.25 pm.

A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES (Pages 4 - 25)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 8 April 2019 and the 
Annual General Meeting held on 13 May 2019.

3.  PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 
15 minute period for public contributions



- 2 -

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed.

5.  AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II 

6.  TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

7.  TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

8.  LEAD MEMBERS (Pages 26 - 29)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

9.  PETITIONS 
To receive petitions (if any)

10.  NOTICES OF MOTION 
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor L S Ford

That the constitution be amended so that any Councillor can only serve as the Chair 
of Plans for a maximum of four consecutive years. Any Councillor who has served as 
Chair of Plans for four years cannot do so again for a four year period.

Written Notice of Motion from Councillors Christie, Hames and Hawkins

That TDC declares a “Climate Emergency” and pledges to make the Council carbon 
neutral by 2030 as part of a Devon-wide carbon reduction plan being organised by 
Devon County Council.    Additionally the Council will protect and promote biodiversity 
throughout Torridge as part of this.  Six monthly reports on progress achieved to be 
presented to Full Council from December 2019.

11.  CLIMATE CHANGE (Pages 30 - 38)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

12.  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
The Chair to move:

“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972”

13.  PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed.



- 3 -

Meeting Organiser:  Democratic Services Tel. 01237 428703



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Town Hall, Bridge Street, Bideford

Monday, 8 April 2019 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT: Councillor S Inch (Chair)
Councillor D McGeough (Vice Chair)

Councillors R Boughton, D Brenton, M Brown, P Christie, 
C Cottle-Hunkin, K Davis, G Dezart, A Eastman, Z Gregorek, 
P Hackett, R Hancock, J Hellyer, R Hicks, J Himan, D Hurley, 
J Hutchings, T Inch, K James, T Johns, R Julian, N Laws, 
R Lock, I Parker, P Pennington, C Simmons, P Watson, 
J Whittaker and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT: J Wallace, Head of Paid Service
S Hearse, Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Kearney, Planning & Economy Manager
S Dorey, Senior Solicitor
S Cawsey, Democratic Services Officer
M Richards, Democratic Services Officer
C Fuller, Economic Development Officer

S Dengate, Non-elected Member
I Harper, Non-elected Member
T Greenham, South West Mutual Bank

  5 Members of the Public

Prior to the commencement of the meeting a minutes silence was held for 
Councillor M Langmead who sadly passed away in March.

67.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boyle, Dart, Langton-
Lockton and Morrish.

68.   COUNCIL MINUTES 

It was proposed by Councillor T Inch, seconded by Councillor Hackett and -

Resolved:   That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2019 be confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2

(Vote: For 25, Abstention 5) 

Resolved:   That the minutes of the Budget Special meeting held on 25 February 
2019 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

(Vote: For 28, Abstention 2) 

69.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

Mrs Joyce Comfort addressed the meeting on the lack of a community centre in 
Londonderry and homeless in the district.  Mrs Comfort had for many years been 
campaigning for a community centre in Londonderry, and the need was even 
greater now as bus services were being withdrawn.  

Mrs Comfort told the Council that there were several homeless in the area and she 
too was facing homelessness. She praised two TDC officers, Roger and Patrick, 
who had been exceptionally helpful.  Mrs Comfort urged the Council to think about 
providing a health and wellbeing centre, perhaps even using empty properties such 
as Moreton House.

70.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when 
the specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion.

71.   AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II 

It was proposed by Councillor T Inch, seconded by Councillor Whittaker and – 

Resolved:

That the Agenda as circulated be agreed.

Councillor Simmons asked why the report on the Work Hub had to be considered in 
Part II, stating that if the figures had been left out, it could have been discussed in 
open forum.  The comment was noted.

(Vote:  For 26, Against 3. Abstentions 1)              

72.   TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

The Chair bade farewell to retiring Councillors and thanked them for their services 
to their constituents and to the Council. 

73.   TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

A question was submitted by Councillor Brenton under Procedural Rule A9.

Page 5



3

In accordance with the Constitution a written answer to the question had been 
circulated to all Members.

Question from Councillor Brenton

“Who authorised TDC to apply to Land Registry to obtain the unregistered land 
known as “The Green” at Hillcrest, East-the-Water?”

Response

TDC have been insuring and maintaining the land for many years and it is shown in 
our estate plans as land owned by TDC.
Upon further investigations it was noted that the land remains unregistered and 
therefore an application was made to register the land in line with TDC’s policies 
and procedures of Land Registration.  Following objections to that registration we 
have not progressed it further and we have ceased cutting the grass and taken this 
out of our ground maintenance contract.

Councillor Brenton responded that residents were being encouraged to register the 
area as a village green.

74.   PETITIONS 

There were no petitions.

75.   SOUTH WEST MUTUAL BANK 

Mr Tony Greenham of South West Mutual thanked the Chair for the opportunity to 
present his business plan to start a new fully licensed regional bank to serve both 
residents and SMEs which would promote local reinvestment.   The proposal had 
been presented to other local authorities and 5 Devon districts had bought in.

The aim of the bank was to support sustainable prosperity in the region, providing a 
full range of services through video linked automated branches with some staffed 
times, as well as fully staffed high street branches.  A charge of £5 per month would 
be applied to personal current accounts.  Mr Greenham illustrated the disparity of 
wealth prevalent in the South West and the resilient performance of European 
banks where a diverse offering of financial institutions was provided.

The intention was that the bank would open in 2020/2021.  Proceedings were 
currently at pre-application stage, for which £0.5m was required.  Thereafter, a 
further £2.5m would be required and for the final phase £17.5m.  He acknowledged 
the risk associated particularly with the first phase and advised that other local 
authorities were exploring the use of economic grants for the initial phase.

The floor was opened for debate and further information was provided by Mr 
Greenham in response to questions.  On the whole, the proposal was generally 
well received but Members were very mindful of the associated risk.

Page 6



4

The Chair thanked Mr Greenham, adding that the topic would come back for 
consideration by the new Council.

76.   FIREWORK DISPLAYS/STARLINGS ROOSTING UNDER BIDEFORD BRIDGE 
(PETITION) 

In accordance with the Council’s Procedural Rules, Mr Durrant was invited to 
introduce the petition.  He referred to letters from the RSPB and Devon Wildlife 
Trust and the support of celebrity wildlife advocates.  Mr Durrant advised that 
Bideford Town Council had unanimously agreed to support the petition and to 
explore the option of much quieter, smaller fireworks and that TDC would work in 
conjunction with Bideford Town Council. 

The move was to protect not only starlings but all wildlife, pets and the 
environment.   It was hoped any changes could be applied to all firework displays 
throughout the year and not just the New Year celebrations.  Most displays took 
place on land owned by Torridge District Council, land which was held in trust for 
the people of Torridge and the authority had a duty of public welfare.

Mr Durrant concluded by referring Councillors to the 6 bulleted requests as included 
in the agenda.

Councillor Christie gave an update on the Town Council’s investigations.  Laser 
fireworks were proving too expensive, however, the organisers of the New Year 
celebrations were going to provide the Town Council with some silent fireworks for 
trial.

It was proposed by Councillor Christie, seconded by Councillor Simmons and – 

Resolved:

That the petition be presented to the Community & Resources Committee for 
further consideration.

(Vote: For 27, Abstentions 3)

77.   TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT 

The Strategic Manager (Resources) presented the report, drawing attention to the 
following:

Bideford Skate Park

The figure shown in the Capital Programme was a net figure and it should be a 
gross figure to include grant funding.

Wilkey’s Field

Councillor Laws asked whether the transfer of Wilkey’s Field to TDC had been 
completed.  The Strategic Manager (Resources) confirmed that Wilkey’s Field did 

Page 7



5

now belong to TDC and the Property & Procurement Manager was working towards 
achieving opening in time for this summer.

East-the-Water Wharves

Councillor Christie asked for a timescale for completion of the scheme.  The 
Strategic Manager (Resources) responded that until the legal issues had been 
resolved it was not possible to give a date.

Future High Streets Fund

Councillor Hellyer asked which town in the district had been selected for this 
scheme.  The Strategic Manager (Resources) replied that it was Bideford.

Homelessness and Temporary Accommodation

The challenges facing TDC and the extraordinary costs had been brought to 
Community & Resources, Internal Overview & Scrutiny and Full Council.  The 
report presented to Community & Resources had detailed the options which were 
being considered, namely the acquisition of properties and a review of internal 
resources.

Councillor Christie sought advice on whether he should declare an interest – as a 
member of the Bridge Trust and he believed one of the properties being considered 
belonged to Bideford Bridge Trust.  The Strategic Manager (Resources) explained 
that no details about individual properties were to be discussed.

The types of property being considered included a property to be used as a hostel, 
temporary modular style accommodation, private property lease and development 
of appropriate TDC owned properties. Properties had been identified and were 
being viewed.  Internal resources had been reviewed in relation to the prevention of 
homelessness and the temporary staff post had been extended utilising money 
allocated to TDC by MHCLG.

The Strategic Manager (Resources) spoke about the over extended capital 
programme and the proposals to increase the provision for homelessness by £1m 
and to increase borrowing by £1m.  He then explained the need for an integrated 
human resources and payroll system, highlighting the benefits, costs and proposed 
funding.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Hackett and - 

Resolved:

(a) The progress made, as highlighted in the report, be noted.
(b) The Bideford Skate Park amendment to the Capital Programme to £0.203m 

in order to reflect the total cost of the project including external grants be 
approved.

(c) An increase of £1m in the Capital Programme be approved for the provision 
of homeless accommodation, with expenditure subject to approval by 

Page 8



6

Community & Resources Committee of a business case(s) demonstrating a 
financially viable and suitable (e.g. location) scheme 

(d) An increase to TDCs approved borrowing of £1m to cover the additional 
resources required to fund the growth in the Capital Programme be 
approved.

(e) The inclusion of a replacement integrated HR / Payroll system in the
Capital Programme be approved at an estimated cost of £0.1m to be funded 
from the balance remaining following the procurement of replacement car 
park machines.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

78.   NOTICES OF MOTION 

Written Notice of Motion from Councillors C Simmons and P Christie

1. Save our hedgehogs

“We propose that a condition is added to all planning permissions that 
remedial action is taken to allow hedgehogs to roam from garden to garden 
and to fields, through holes in fences, walls or other barriers.  Hedgehogs 
need a large area to find their food and this small action will make a 
difference.

We understand that this will be added to planning advice by Central 
Government in the future, but we think that Torridge should lead the way.  
Hedgehogs are in rapid decline and this much-loved mammal should be 
given as much help as possible”.

Councillor Simmons briefly presented the motion and a short discussion followed.  
The motion was seconded by Councillor Christie and - 

Resolved:

That the motion be referred to the Plans Committee for consideration.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

2. Written Notice of Motion from Councillor J Whittaker

The use of the Implication Report as part of the Council’s planning 
procedures:
 
“I am hoping that Cllrs will support me in my efforts to have the ‘Implications 
Report’ process removed from the way which the Council still deals with 
some of the planning applications it considers. There is no understanding 
from a public perception as to why this process is used or indeed why it's 
necessary. Many of our residents take the view that something inappropriate 
or even underhand is taking place. Whilst this is not at all the case, and 
Members of the Plans Committee do have a responsibility in making well 

Page 9



7

judged decisions, the use of this process does nothing to improve the public 
perception of our Council, something I really care about.   
 
I would therefore urge my fellow Councillors to support this Notice of Motion 
to remove the Implications Report process when considering planning 
applications at our Plans Committee Meetings”.

 
Councillor Whittaker introduced the motion, stating that Implication Reports were 
generally only implemented for major applications, and she cited the Heywood 
Road and Knapp House applications.

Councillor Brenton spoke in support of the motion, reminding Councillors that the 
Council is Member led.  

Councillor Lock proposed the motion be deferred for 6 months to allow new Plans 
Committee Members to undergo training before considering the motion.

The motion was debated further and it was noted that:

 The Implications Report process can not be applied retrospectively.
 Other LAs in Somerset, Devon and Cornwall, with the exception of Mid 

Devon do not use Implications Reports.

Councillor Hicks recalled that Members had been given no opportunity other than to 
accept the Implications Report process when it was introduced and he requested 
that old minutes relating to the process be consulted.

The Notice of Motion was seconded by Councillor T. Inch and 

Resolved: 

That the motion be referred to the Plans Committee.

(Vote:  For 29, Abstentions 1)

Councillor Brenton left the meeting at 20.03pm.

79.   EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

It was proposed by Councillor S Inch, seconded by Councillor T Inch and –

Resolved:

That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of the 
likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and 
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 10



8

(Vote:  For – 28, Against 1)

80.   PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

81.   REPLACEMENT MOORING POSTS & ADDITIONAL WATER POINTS AT 
BANK END 

The Strategic Manager (Resources) explained that the purpose of the report was to 
outline the need and approval for the funding of improved mooring facilities at Bank 
End.

Following a brief debate, it was proposed by Councillor McGeough, seconded by 
Councillor Hellyer and –

Resolved:

 That the replacement of the mooring posts for the Bank End area be 
approved.

 That additional water standpipes be provided

(Vote:  For 25, Against 2, Abstentions 1)

Councillor Gregorek left the meeting at 20.18pm

82.   BIDEFORD TOWN HALL WORK HUB 

The purpose of the report, presented by the Economic Development Officer, was 
for Members to approve funding for the Work Hub development in Bideford Town 
Hall.

The power point presentation given by the Economic Development Officer outlined 
the background to this Project, the ways in which it would work including an online 
booking system and smart phone access locks and the successes of other Work 
Hubs within the area.

During the discussion it was suggested that Officers place more emphasis on the 
offer and highlight the actual benefits of the Work Hub rather than working from 
home.  

It was proposed by Councillor McGeough, seconded by Councillor Christie and -

Resolved:

That the allocation of monies from the Capital Acquisition Reserve for Economic 
Regeneration purposes for delivery of the Bideford Work Hub be approved.

(Vote:  For – Unanimous)

Page 11



9

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.36 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 12



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS

Monday, 13 May 2019 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT: Councillor D Brenton (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice Chair)

Councillors J Hutchings, R Boughton, M Brown, C Cottle-Hunkin, 
A Dart, P Hackett, R Hicks, D Hurley, T Inch, K James, N Laws, 
R Lock, D McGeough, P Pennington, P Watson, R Wiseman, 
C Bright, D Bushby, M Clarke, R Craigie, L Ford, J Gubb, 
P Hames, S Harding, C Hawkins, K Hepple, C Hodson, D Jones, 
S Langford, C Leather, J Manley, McKenzie and G Rossi

ALSO PRESENT: S Cawsey, Democratic Services Officer
M Richards, Democratic Services Officer
T Vanstone, Senior Electoral & Democratic Services Officer
K Hewlett, Electoral and Democratic Services Officer
S Dorey, Senior Solicitor
S Hearse, Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Kearney, Planning & Economy Manager
H Roper, Service Improvement Officer
J Wallace, Head of Paid Service
S Ayres, HR Manager
R Haste, Waste and Recycling Manager
A Redwood, Property and Procurement Manager

Mr I Harper

Members of the public – 18

1.   APOLOGIES 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Newton.

2.   ELECTION OF CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 

Nominations were invited for Chair of the Council.

It was proposed by Councillor R Lock and seconded by Councillor M Clark –

That Councillor D McGeough be elected Chair of the Council.

Page 13



2

It was proposed by Councillor A Dart and seconded by Councillor C Cottle-Hunkin  –

That Councillor D Brenton be elected Chair of the Council.

Vote: Councillor D McGeough  - 10
Councillor D Brenton – 25

Resolved:

That Councillor D Brenton be elected as Chair of the Council.

Councillor Brenton read and signed the Acceptance of Office and took the Chair.

The newly elected Chair addressed the meeting, thanking Members for his election.  
He then presented Simon Inch, former Chair of the Council, with the previous 
Chairman’s badge of office.

3.   ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 

Nominations were invited for Vice Chair of the Council.

It was proposed by Councillor R Craigie, seconded by Councillor A Dart and –

Resolved:

That Councillor P Christie be elected as Vice Chair of the Council.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

4.   MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Council held 8 April 2019 were presented.

It was proposed by Councillor P Hackett, seconded by Councillor A Inch and –

Resolved:

That the minutes be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

(Vote: For 22, abstentions 13)

5.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

Mr Hassall, elected Member of Littleham and Landcross Parish Council, spoke 
about procedures.  He expressed the opinion that it was premature for the Council 
to be determining Chairs and Committee Membership in view of the unprecedented 
number of Independent Members who would undoubtedly have differing views and 
allegiances.  He suggested more time was required to agree membership of the 
Council’s committees.  Should it be an administrative requirement to decide upon 

Page 14



3

committees at this meeting, he urged the Council to consider committee 
membership, agreed at today’s meeting, as temporary and subject to amendment.

The Chair offered assurance that the membership of committees would be carefully 
considered.

Mr Glaholm addressed the Council on car parking in Bideford and made 3 requests:

 To make the Car Parking Working Group a public meeting
 To introduce a 30 minute rate in The Pill Car Park
 To consider transferring the management of both off and on street parking to 

Bideford Town Council.

6.   TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

No correspondence or other business was brought forward.

7.   TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

No questions had been submitted under Procedural Rule A9.

8.   ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

Nominations were invited for Leader of the Council.

It was proposed by Councillor P Watson, seconded by Councillor P Hackett and –

Resolved:

That Councillor A Dart be elected Leader of the Council for the ensuing year.

(Vote:  For - Unanimous)

9.   ELECTION OF DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

Nominations were invited for Deputy leader of the Council.

It was proposed by Councillor P Watson, seconded by Councillor A Dart and -

Resolved:

That Councillor K James be elected Deputy Leader of the Council.

(Vote:  For - Unanimous)

10.   SIZE OF COMMITTEES AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Senior Solicitor presented the report, the purpose of which was for Members to

Page 15



4

confirm the size of Committees, to approve their Terms of Reference and to decide 
whether the Licensing and Standards Committee seats should be politically 
balanced.  

It was proposed by Councillor D Brenton, seconded by Councillor A Inch and –

Resolved:

 That the size of Committees as stated in the report and their Terms of 
Reference as set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution be approved.

(Vote:  For 34, Abstentions 1)

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough, seconded by Councillor M Clarke and –

Resolved:

 That the Licensing and Standards Committee seats be politically balanced.

(Vote:  For 20, Against 6, Abstentions 8)
 

11.   ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS 

A paper giving details of the allocation of seats on Committees to each of the 
Political Groups was tabled at the meeting.

The Senior Solicitor advised that it was a requirement of the Council’s Constitution 
that Full Council approve each year at the Annual General Meeting, the number of 
seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political Groups.   

It was proposed by Councillor R Lock, seconded by Councillor A Inch and - 

Resolved:

That the number of seats on the Committees be allocated on the percentage basis 
as shown below:

Page 16



5

(Vote:  For – Unanimous)

12.   MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 

The purpose of the report, presented by the Senior Solicitor, was for Members to 
agree the Membership of Committees or to delegate to Group Leaders to agree.

It was proposed by Councillor A Inch, seconded by Councillor D McGeough  and –

Resolved:

That Agreement of the membership on each Committee be delegated to Group 
Leaders

(Vote:   For – Unanimous)

13.   ELECTION OF CHAIRS AND VICE CHAIRS 

Community & Resources Committee

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor A Dart and seconded by Councillor P Watson that 
Councillor R Hicks be elected Chair of the Community & Resources Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor R Boughton and seconded by Councillor S Harding 
that Councillor D Hurley be elected Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

Vote: For Councillor R Hicks - 24
For Councillor D Hurley - 10
Abstentions - 1

Resolved:

That Councillor R Hicks be elected Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Community & 
Resources Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor J Hutchings and seconded by Councillor D Jones that 
Councillor D McGeough be elected as Vice Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor P Pennington and seconded by Councillor R Craigie 
that Councillor D Bushby be elected as Vice Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

Page 17



6

Vote: For Councillor D McGeough - 23
For Councillor D Bushby – 7
Abstentions – 5

Resolved:

That Councillor D McGeough be elected Vice Chair of the Community & Resources 
Committee.

Audit & Governance Committee

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor K James, seconded by Councillor G Rossi and – 

Resolved:

That Councillor P Hackett be elected Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor N Laws, seconded by Councillor P Hackett and – 

Resolved:

That Councillor C Hodson be elected Vice Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

Plans Committee

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Plans Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough and seconded by Councillor J 
Hutchings that Councillor R Lock be elected Chair of the Plans Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D Bushby and seconded by Councillor J Manley that 
Councillor C Leather be elected Chair of the Plans Committee.

Vote: For Councillor R Lock – 13
For Councillor C Leather – 18
Abstentions – 4

Page 18



7

Resolved:

That Councillor C Leather be elected Chair of the Plans Committee.

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Plans Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough and seconded by Councillor J 
Hutchings that Councillor R Lock be elected Vice Chair of the Plans Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor C Leather and seconded by Councillor R Craigie that 
Councillor M Brown be elected Chair of the Plans Committee.

Vote: For Councillor R Lock – 10
For Councillor M Brown – 25

Resolved:

That Councillor M Brown be elected as Vice Chair of the Plans Committee.

Licensing Committee

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Licensing Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor C Leather and seconded by Councillor J McKenzie 
that Councillor K James be elected Chair of the Licensing Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough and seconded by Councillor R Lock that 
Councillor M Clarke be elected Chair of the Licensing Committee.

Vote: For Councillor K James – 24
For Councillor M Clarke – 10
Abstentions – 1

Resolved:

That Councillor K James be elected as Chair of the Licensing Committee.

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor K James and seconded by Councillor A Dart that 
Councillor J McKenzie be elected Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough and seconded by Councillor R Lock that 
Councillor M Clarke be elected Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.

Vote: For Councillor J McKenzie – 24
For Councillor M Clarke – 10
Abstentions – 1

Page 19



8

Resolved:

That Councillor J McKenzie be elected as Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.

Internal Overview & Scrutiny

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Internal Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor P Hackett and seconded by Councillor N Laws that 
Councillor P Watson be elected Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor M Clarke and seconded by Councillor D Jones that 
Councillor A Inch be elected Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

Vote: For Councillor P Watson – 24
For Councillor A Inch – 10
Abstentions – 1

Resolved:

That Councillor P Watson be elected Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Internal Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor P Watson and seconded by Councillor P Christie that 
Councillor P Hames be elected Vice Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor M Clarke and seconded by Councillor D Jones that 
Councillor A Inch be elected Vice Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

Vote: For Councillor P Hames – 24
For Councillor A Inch – 10
Abstentions – 1

Resolved:

That Councillor P Hames be elected as Vice Chair of the Internal Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

External Overview & Scrutiny

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the External Overview &

Page 20



9

Scrutiny Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor P Hackett, seconded by Councillor K James and –

Resolved:

That Councillor P Pennington be elected Chair of the External Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the External Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor P Pennington and seconded by Councillor J Manley 
that Councillor C Cottle-Hunkin be elected Vice Chair of the External Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D McGeough and seconded by Councillor K Hepple 
that Councillor S Harding be elected Vice Chair of the External Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

Vote: For Councillor C Cottle-Hunkin – 25
For Councillor S Harding – 10

Resolved:

That Councillor C Cottle-Hunkin be elected Vice Chair of the External Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee.

Standards

Nominations were invited for the position of Chair of the Standards Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor J Hutchings and seconded by Councillor R Boughton 
that Councillor A Inch be elected Chair of the Standards Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor D Bushby and seconded by Councillor K James that 
Councillor N Laws be elected Chair of the Standards Committee.

Vote: For Councillor A Inch – 10
For Councillor N Laws – 25

Resolved:

That Councillor N Laws be elected Chair of the Standards Committee.

Nominations were invited for the position of Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.

Page 21



10

It was proposed by Councillor N Laws and seconded by Councillor C Leather that 
Councillor G Rossi be elected Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.

It was proposed by Councillor A Inch and seconded by Councillor R Lock that 
Councillor M Clarke be elected Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.

Vote: For Councillor G Rossi – 25
For Councillor M Clarke – 10

Resolved:

That Councillor G Rossi be elected Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.

14.   APPOINTMENT TO PROGRAMME BOARD 

The purpose of the report, presented by the Senior Solicitor, was to appoint a 
Member to sit on the Programme Board.

It was proposed by Councillor P Christie, seconded by Councillor D McGeough
and –

Resolved:

That the Programme Board be abolished; the Member Asset Management Working 
Group to be reinstated and a representative from each of the Political Groups to sit 
on the Working Group.

(Vote:  For 34, Against 1)

15.   SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

The Senior Solicitor reported that it was a requirement of the Council’s Constitution 
that Full Council approve the Scheme of Delegation each year at the Annual 
General Meeting.

It was proposed by Councillor A Inch that the Scheme of Delegation as set out in 
Appendix 1 attached to the report be approved.

Whilst acknowledging the requirement to adopt the scheme, Councillor A Dart stated 
that there were many aspects of the constitution which needed to be reviewed.  With 
this in mind, Councillor A Dart was happy to approve the Scheme of Delegation on 
the proviso that a working group, comprising Members, Officers and Experts, be set 
up as soon as possible to review the constitution. 

The Head of Paid Service told the meeting that the services of an experienced  
Local Government expert had already been engaged in appraising our constitution 
and to suggest changes in line with best practice.

Page 22



11

Councillor A Inch said he was happy to include this in his proposal.  It was 
suggested that the amendment should restrict the period for revision to six months.

It was agreed that the Local Government Association be involved in the constitution 
review.  The Head of Paid Service was due to have a telephone conference call with 
the LGA on 14 May.

It was proposed, seconded and –

Resolved:

That the Scheme of Delegation as set out in Appendix 1 attached to the report be 
approved on the proviso that the constitution be reviewed within 6 months.

(Vote: For 34, Abstentions 1)

16.   MEMBERSHIP OF OUTSIDE BODIES 

The Senior Solicitor presented the report, the purpose of which was to agree the 
Membership of Outside Bodies.

It was proposed by Councillor D Brenton, seconded by Councillor A Inch               
and –

Resolved:

That the Membership on Outside Bodies be delegated to Group Leaders to agree.

It was noted that there was no longer any TDC representation on Westward Housing 
and this should be removed from the list.

(Vote:  For – unanimous) 

17.   APPOINTMENT OF LEAD MEMBERS 

Councillor P Christie asked that the item be deferred to allow more time for new 
councillors to learn about the roles.  Interested Members with the relevant skill sets 
for Lead Member roles were asked to inform their Group Leader.

It was proposed by Councillor P Christie, seconded by Councillor Hicks and – 

Resolved:

That the approval of Lead Members be deferred to the next meeting of the Full 
Council.

(Vote: For – unanimous)

Page 23



12

18.   INQUORATE PARISH COUNCILS 

Councillor Pennington declared a personal interest – possible candidate for
Littleham Parish Council election 

The purpose of the report was to consider
 the recommendations made by the Senior Solicitor and the Monitoring Officer in 
relation to the inquorate Parish Council’s of Littleham and Shebbear, and the 
procedure to enable an Order for a temporary appointment and any future 
appointments to Parish Councils in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

When discussing this item, Members raised a concern with authorisation being 
given to the Head of Paid Service, as set out in paragraph 5 of Appendix B.  
Members requested the paragraph to be amended to state that in the event that no 
Ward Member wishes to be appointed on a temporary basis, the matter to be 
brought back to Full Council for a decision.  

A vote was taken on the above amendment.

It was proposed, seconded and –

Resolved:

That paragraph 5 in Appendix B attached to the report be amended as follows:

“In the event that no ward member wishes to be appointed on a temporary basis, the 
matter to be brought back to Full Council for a decision”.

(Vote:  For 24, Against 6, Abstentions 5)

The motion was carried.

Following further discussion it was proposed by Councillor C Leather, seconded by 
Councillor P Watson and –

Resolved:

1. That the Order attached to the report as Appendix A, for the Head of Paid 
Service to appoint temporary Parish Councillors for the Littleham and 
Shebbear Parish Council’s be approved.

2. That the Procedure, attached to the report as Appendix B and amended as 
above,  in the event that there are insufficient numbers of Parish Councillors 
for other Parish Councils to operate, be approved.

(Vote:  For 30, Against 2, Abstentions 3)

Page 24



13

19.   PETITIONS 

There were no petitions.

20.   NOTICES OF MOTION 

There were no notices of motion.

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 7.54 pm.

Chair: Date:

Page 25



REPORT OF Head of Paid Service
To: Full Council
Subject: Lead Members
Date: 1 July 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To approve the Lead Members and Membership of Outside Bodies

1. INTRODUCTION

Following the decision at the AGM the Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders have 
reviewed the Council’s Lead Members and the Membership of Outside Bodies.

2. REPORT

A few amendments have been suggested to the previous Lead Members with amalgamation 
of Legal with Democratic Support and also the change of name of the Lead Member for 
Housing to the Lead Member for Homelessness and Housing Need.  

There is also a recommendation to create a new Lead Member role for Climate Change.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
It is a requirement of the Council’s Constitution that Full Council approve Lead Members

Financial Implications
None

Human Resources Implications
None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
n/a

Equality/Diversity
n/a

Risk Management
n/a

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This is in accordance with the Council’s Constitution

Deputy Leader of the Council views
Councillor James – 
“the suggested changes to the Lead Members are aimed to cut down on duplication and also 
help the Council focus on some priority areas.  We believe that all the suggested Councillors 
will bring skills and knowledge to the Lead Member roles and to the Outside Bodies”.

Page 26

Agenda Item 8



4. CONCLUSIONS

The Lead Members and Membership of Outside Bodies are put forward for Full Council 
approval.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

Members are recommended to:

 approve the following Lead Members and Lead Member roles: 

Lead Member for: Councillor

Economy Bob Hicks

Community, Culture & Leisure Cheryl Cottle-Hunkin

Environment Ken James

Health, Wellbeing & Community Safety Philip Hackett

Planning & Development Peter Watson

Customer Services & Internal Resources Claire Hodson

Legal & Democratic Support David Hurley

Homelessness and Housing Need Michael Clarke

Waste & Recycling Chris Leather

Climate Change Peter Hames

 Agree the Membership of Outside Bodies as per Appendix 1

Page 27



Membership of Community Groups & Outside Bodies 

May 2019 
 

Organisation 
No of 

reps 

 

Council Representative 

 

Contact 

Bideford Bay Childrens’ Centre 1 D Brenton 
 

Bideford Community Archive Council 1 P Christie 
 

 
Bude Canal Trust 
 

1 K James  

 
Coastal & Market Towns Initiative –           
Holsworthy 
 

1 P Watson  

 
County (Locality) Committee 
 

2 
R Wiseman 
J McKenzie 

 

Devon Audit Partnership Committee 2 
Chair A&G Committee 
Vice Chair A&G 

 

 
Devon & Cornwall Housing 
Association (Sanctuary Road  
project) 
 

1 K James  

 
Devon Districts Forum 
 

1 A Dart 
 

 
Devon Waste Management 
Committee 
 

1 C Leather 

 

 
Great Torrington Community 
Development Trust 
 

1 C Cottle-Hunkin  

 
Harbour Bideford 
(Homeless Charity) 
 

 
1 
 

C Hodson 

 

 
HATOC 
(joint meeting with DCC) 
 

2 
R Wiseman 
J McKenzie 

 

 
Holsworthy Memorial Hall  
Management Committee 
 

2 
P Watson 
1 vacancy 

 

Integr8 1 J McKenzie  

LGA Coastal SIG 1 C Hodson  

Lundy Marine Protected Area 2 
S Harding 
R Boughton 

 

North Devon Coast Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty  

1 S Harding  

North Devon + 2 
C Hawkings 
A Dart 

 

Page 28



Police & Crime Panel 1 P Hackett 
 

Pollyfield 1 R Craigie  

Tarka Rail Association 1 C Bright  

Taw & Torridge Voluntary Services 
TTVS 

1 P Pennington 
 

Torridge, North Devon, Mid Devon 
and Bude CAB 

1 J Manley 
 

Torrington Care forum 1 C Cottle-Hunkin  

Torrington Together 2 
M Brown 
C Cottle-Hunkin 

 

 

Page 29



REPORT OF Head of Paid Service
To: Full Council
Subject: Climate Change  
Date: 1st July 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    

 To update members on County wide activities following DCC’s declaration of a ‘Climate 
Emergency’.

 To consider a written Notice of Motion that TDC declare its own Climate Change Emergency.
 To determine whether we make preparations to sign up to the Devon Climate Declaration 

(subject to formal approval) which will commit us to updating the Carbon Management Plan for 
Torridge.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s (IPCC) has warned that we have 12 years to 
limit climate change to avoid a catastrophe. The special report on Global Warming, published in 
October 2018, describes the enormous harm that a 2⁰C rise is likely to cause compared to a 1.5⁰C 
rise. The report went on to say that limiting Global Warming to 1.5⁰C may still be possible with 
ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private sector and local 
communities themselves.

Global temperatures have already increased by 1 degree Celsius from pre-industrial levels. 
Atmospheric CO₂ levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds the 350 ppm 
deemed to be a safe level for humanity

In order to reduce the chance of runaway global warming and limit the effects of climate breakdown, 
it is imperative that CO₂ (carbon equivalent) emissions reduce from their current 6.5 tonnes per 
person per year to less than 2 tonnes, as soon as possible.

Whilst the cause might be a subject of debate, human activity has contributed to the situation and 
so we have a moral duty to intervene. The risk of not taking action could have profound 
consequences on this and future generations.

On the 21st February 2019 Devon County Council voted to declare a ‘Climate Emergency’ and a 
project is under development that will commit a wide range of authorities and organisations across 
Devon to sign up to a Devon Climate Declaration. More information on this is given below. 

A Climate Emergency declaration issued by a council can be a powerful catalyst for action, if paired 
with a clear action plan. Members are being asked to consider a motion for TDC to declare its own 
Climate Emergency and commit resources to sign up to the Devon Climate Declaration and update 
the Carbon Management Plan for Torridge.

Page 30

Agenda Item 11



2. REPORT

Carbon Reduction at TDC

TDC has historically been very active in monitoring its carbon footprint and taking steps to reduce 
emissions, in line with our Carbon Management Programme (link at end of this report). This was 
approved in 2009 and committed TDC to a reduction in CO2 by 12.5% by 2014. This target was met 
and exceeded: in the last period measured (16/17), carbon emissions had been reduced by 16.3% 
since the baseline year of 2008. 

The measures put forward in the carbon Management Programme had an added benefit of 
projected savings to the council of over £300 000, through reduced energy consumption, investment 
in renewable energy and improving energy performance ratings for our estate.

While some of the measures taken were significant, the cost saving benefits were easily realised 
and provided incentive for action. Taking this process further in the future is likely to be more 
challenging. Conversely however, the green agenda presents economic opportunities for the district 
that weren’t available previously, and the chance to tap into this wider movement.

Devon Climate Declaration and Emergency Response.

Since the County Council declared a ‘Climate Emergency’ a Devon Climate Emergency Response 
Group (DCERG) has been set up. It is made up of senior officer of about 25 organisations including 
all the Devon Councils, emergency services, businesses and voluntary organisations. Its role is to 
provide the coordination of a collaborative response to the climate emergency. TDC is a member of 
this group.

Through the DCERG, organisations are being asked to sign up to the Devon Climate Declaration 
which  commits them to reviewing their own plans to reduce their organisation’s carbon emissions 
and collaborate on the production and implementation of a Devon-wide carbon plan. 

A Tactical Group supports the DCERG and has been tasked with developing the Devon wide 
Carbon Plan. The County Council have put aside a sizeable budget for this and currently 
preparations are being made to appoint a project manager. Part of the development of the Carbon 
Plan will be developing a Citizens Assembly to enable the views of the general public and experts to 
be taken into account in developing the plan for decarbonising Devon. The process will be 
supported throughout by experts from Exeter University. The Carbon Plan is expected to be 
adopted in November 2020. TDC also has representation on this Tactical Group. 

Signing up to the Devon Climate Declaration will commit us to reviewing our carbon plan within six 
months. It also states the following: 

We understand that the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has advised that 
carbon emissions must reduce globally by at least 45% by 2030 from 2010 levels and reach net-
zero by 2050 if we are to avoid the worst effects of climate change by keeping warming below 1.5 
degrees.

Signatories are not precluded from setting their own carbon emission targets. 

Notice of Motion to Full Council

Cllrs Hames, Christie, and Hawkins have put forward the following Notice of Motion:

“That TDC declares a ‘Climate Emergency’ and pledges to make the council carbon neutral by 2030 
as part of a Devon-wide reduction plan being organised by Devon County Council. Additionally the 

Page 31



council will protect and promote biodiversity throughout Torridge as part of this. Six monthly reports 
on progress achieved to be presented to Full Council from December 2019”
Discussion of motion put forward.

Carbon emissions result from both production and consumption. When we talk about ‘carbon 
neutrality’ it refers to achieving zero carbon dioxide emissions by balancing carbon emissions with 
carbon removal. This is a three pronged approach: if feasible eliminating carbon emissions 
altogether, reducing them where possible, and offsetting remaining carbon emissions via a range of 
options from tree planting to purchasing carbon reduction credits to fund projects which avoid or 
reduce emissions such as biomass generation or wind farms. 

Clearly with the declaration of a climate emergency by the County Council and their engagement 
with all of the Devon districts and wider partners in progressing a county wide carbon reduction 
plan, it is an opportune time to determine the position of TDC. A declaration of our own at this 
juncture would be timely and give a commitment of our involvement in this process. 

Climate Emergency declarations are being made across local government, agencies and institutions 
and these set targets for those organisations to become carbon neutral. Devon County Council 
have resolved to take on the IPPC recommendation to reduce net human caused CO2 emissions by 
45% from 2010 levels by 2030 and reaching ‘net zero’ levels by 2050. However, organisations are 
setting their own Carbon Neutral dates, the most commonly appearing to be 2030, with others 
setting targets for dates such as 2025, 2028, 2038 and 2050. 

The Carbon Neutral target date will obviously demonstrate this authority’s commitment and ambition 
to meet this goal and this will need to be translated into action over a range or policy and activities 
under the control of, or which can be directly influenced by TDC. We are very much in the early 
stages of updating our own carbon footprint knowledge and understanding and exploring the range 
of options available to reduce our carbon impacts. While a clear commitment at this point would be 
of benefit it is not possible to advise members on what the consequences of this could be in practice 
and the potential resources that would be required to meet this target. What is clear is that 
achieving a Carbon Neutral target by whatever date is likely to be reliant on external factors outside 
the direct control of the Council which will necessitate involvement in the Devon Wide Carbon 
Reduction Plan.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

None

Financial Implications

As part of developing a carbon management plan for TDC, and collaborating with DCC on 
the Devon Wide Plan, as assessment of financial implications will need to be made. This is 
likely to inform our choices and priority setting. However at this stage it is not possible to 
provide information on financial implications.

No TDC resources have been allocated and involvement with DCC in this project to date has 
been as additional tasking to staff. 

Human Resources Implications

As above.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

Page 32



The Declaration of a Climate Emergency by TDC and subsequent actions arising to tackle 
this will have significant impacts on sustainability and biodiversity. 

Equality/Diversity

None

Risk Management

A Climate Emergency Declaration will be put forward to the TDC risk management group for 
inclusion on the Corporate Risk Register.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

A Climate Emergency Declaration and subsequent action plan may impact on a range of 
TDC Policies and Strategies, in areas such as procurement and planning.  

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

None

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

Date of Consultation - 

4. CONCLUSIONS

Action is being taken from global to local levels on carbon reduction at the current time and there is 
an expectation on Local Authorities to declare a commitment to take action to address these issues. 
The Declaration of a Climate Emergency by TDC will publically demonstrate this authority’s 
acknowledgement of this matter and commitment to taking action.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That members note the significant action that TDC has taken to date in reducing its own carbon 
footprint and the wider collaborative activities that we are involved with in at the current time.

2. That members determine whether TDC declares its own ‘Climate Emergency’ and by what date 
we commit to carbon neutrality.

3. To determine whether we make preparations to sign up to the Devon Climate Declaration 
(subject to formal approval) which will commit us to updating the Carbon Management Plan for 
Torridge.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Page 33



Background Papers: IPPC report: https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/ 
IPPC summary:  
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-
climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration 
DCC Climate Declaration: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-
climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration 
TCD current carbon management programme: 
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=4356&p=0 
Devon Climate Emergency Response Group 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-
climate-emergency-response-group 
Devon Climate Declaration 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-
climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration 

Page 34

https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=4356&p=0
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration
https://www.devon.gov.uk/energyandclimatechange/devon-climate-emergency-response-group/devon-climate-declaration


Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	Draft Minutes
	Minutes


	8 Lead Members
	Membership of Outside bodies - May 2019

	11 Climate Change
	Climate Change - appendix


